

Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment

Situation analysis and strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment

Situation analysis and strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

This document is available in Arabic. Both English and Arabic documents are available at: www.moph.gov.lb

Suggested citation: Ministry of Public Health. 2015. Mental Health and Substance Use- Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment- Situation Analysis and Strategy for Lebanon 2015-2020. Beirut: Lebanon.

© 2015 Ministry of Public Health (August 2015)



تم انتاج هذا الكتيب بدعم من الاتحاد الأوروبي وتمت طباعته من قبل منظمة الصحة العالمية بالشراكة مع مفوضية الأمم المتحدة العليا لشؤون اللاجئين وذلك في إطار مشروع بإدارة وزارة الصحة العامة. إن وزارة الصحة العامة هي الجهةالوحيدة المسؤولة عن محتوى هذا الكتيب ولا يمكن اعتباره بأي حال من الأحوال على أنه يعكس وجهة نظر الاتحاد الأوروبي.

This document has been produced with the support of the European Union and printed by the World Health Organization in partnership with the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees in the context of a project led by the Ministry of Public Health. The content of this document is the sole responsibility of the Ministry of Public Health and can in no way be taken to reflect the views of the European Union.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreword by His Excellency, the Minister of Public Health
Acknowledgments
Acronyms
Executive Summary
Introduction
Situation analysis
I. Global overview
II. The context of Lebanon
A. Mental disorders in Lebanon
B. Substance use disorders in Lebanon
C. Vulnerable groups in Lebanon
D. Snapshot of the mental health and substance use system in
Lebanon
E. Main opportunities and challenges
Mental Health and Substance Use: Prevention, Promotion, and
Treatment Strategy for Lebanon 2015-2020
A. Vision
B. Mission
C. Values and guiding principles
D. Goals and domains of action
Domain 1: Leadership and governance
Domain 2: Reorientation and scaling up of mental health services 34
Domain 3: Promotion and prevention
Domain 4: Information, evidence and research
Domain 5: Vulnerable groups
Targets for successful achievement of strategic objectives 47
References

The National Mental Health Programme (NMHP) at the Ministry of Public Health (MOPH) is launching a Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment Strategy for Lebanon.

I am pleased to share this document that constitutes an integral part of the National Health Strategy and will guide the ministry for the coming 6 years in meeting the needs of our communities in the area of mental health and substance use.

I am grateful to all the efforts and time put in preparation of this document. Many people have allocated time and resources to make valuable recommendations to the strategy. The NMHP and its partners have been leading this work. Local and international NGOs, UN agencies, ministries, mental health experts, and many others have been involved in the preparation and review of this document. I would like to express my particular appreciation to the programme director Dr Rabih Chammay for his commitment and professional work and to the Director General Dr Walid Ammar for his leadership. The result of this participatory endeavour is a well-informed national strategy owned and supported by all relevant actors.

Over the next 5 years, we will all combine our efforts in order to strengthen effective leadership and governance for mental health and provide comprehensive, integrated and responsive mental health and social care services in community-based settings. We will also develop and implement key promotion and prevention activities for mental health and substance use disorders and obtain evidence-based knowledge to inform mental health policy and service development through an operational Health Information System (HIS) and coordinated national research practice. Finally, we will strive to meet the needs of specific vulnerable groups with regards to mental health and substance use.

The main challenge now is to transform this strategy into a reality. This, in particular, will change the life of many people and will improve mental health in Lebanon.

Wael Abou Faour

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special acknowledgement goes to all persons and agencies that were involved in the formulation and review of this strategy document.

This strategy would not have materialized without the contributions, efforts and time of technical staff from the World Health Organization headquarters, regional office, and Lebanon country office, ministries, UN agencies, NGOs and INGOs, and many local and international experts.

Special thanks for those who directly contributed to the drafting, editing, revision and finalization of the strategy, and for all those who facilitated the process.

Special acknowledgment goes to the:

Drafting and revision team:

NMHP team

Ghada Abou Mrad, Nour Kik, Sandra Hajal Hanna, Wissam Kheir, and Sara Abu Zaki.

WHO

Edwina Zoghbi.

Local and international reviewers

WHO

Lebanon country office team: Gabriele Riedner and Alissar Rady.

Regional office team: Khalid Saeed.

Headquarters team: Shekhar Saxena, Michelle Karen Funk, Mark Humphrey van Ommeren, Daniel Chishlom, and Salimah Champsi.

UNICEF

Luciano Calestini, Anthony MacDonald, Zeroual Azzeddine, Henriette Carina McCabe, Yuko Osawa, and Emilie Minnick.

International Medical Corps

Inka Weissbecker, Colin Lee, François de la Roche, Zeinab Hijazi, Ibrahim Abou Khalil, and Jihane Bou Sleiman.

^{4 |} Mental Health and Substance Use Strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

Others

Abbas Makki, Fadi El-Jardali, Filippo Marranconi, Fouad Fouad, Georges Haddad, Hala Kerbage, Hana Nassif, Jocelyn DeJong, Laila Farhoud, Lamia Moghnieh, Lauri Abi Habib, Leyla Akoury-Dirani, Lilian Ghandour, Monique Shaya, Pia Tohme, Rima Afifi, Rudy Abi Habib, Sami Richa, and Wadih Naja.

Peer reviewers

Ministries

Ministry of Education, Ministry of Interior and Municipalities, Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Social Affairs.

Charbel Nassif, Elissar Douaihy, Ghaleb El Ayoubi, Hamza Charafeddine, Khadija Ibrahim, Nada Fawaz, Rima Khalil, Sonia Najem, Wissam Debian, and Zeina Ammar.

Other UN agencies

Alice Wimmer (UNHCR), Anne Colquhoun (UNRWA), Barbara Boekhoudt (UNRWA), Michael Woodman (UNHCR), Mona Kiwan (UNHCR), Nada Naja (UNFPA), Najeh Sadek (UNRWA), Nibal Sayyad (UNRWA), Nicia El Dinawi (UNFPA), Pieter Ventevogel (UNHCR HQ), Taghrid Awad (UNRWA), and Walid Ikram (UNFPA).

International Experts

Amber Gibson, Amber Elisabeth Gray, Anita Marini, Audrey Adeline Gibeaux, Georgios Kanaris, Hanann Riad Sabri, Ilina Slavova, Rafael Pero, Zeina Hassan, and Samira Kheirallah.

Local Experts

Athar Halaby, Beatrice Khater, Bernard Sousse, Brigitte Khoury, Chady Ibrahim, Christiane Njeim Chiha, Claude Boutros, Cynthia El Koury, Dania Hajj Ali, Danielle Ayoub, Dina Mouzayen, Elie Karam, Georges Haddad, Georges Karam, Ghida Anani, Hanadi Esseili, Helene Issa, Helene Samaha Nuwayhid, Iman Nuwayhid, Jay Feghali, Tima El-Jamil, Julie El Khoury, Justine Di Mayo, Khodor Awad, Mariam Hassan, Marie Abdel Ahad, Marie Daunay, Marwa Jawhar, Maureen Mahfouz, Micheal Khoury, Michel Soufia, Mohammed Bassam, Mohammed Safa, Muna Khalidi, Nadia Badran, Noelle Moawad, Nour Jabbour, Rabih Hassouna, Rabih Maher, Racha Tadmori, Rachelle Sabbagh, Ramzi Haddad, Rima El Khoury, Rita Slim, Salam Jalloul, Samar Tfaily, Sara Sannouh, Sophia Maamari, Wissam Kotait, Wissam Samhat, Zeina El Jordi, and Ziad El Khatib.

Associations, Organizations, Orders and Universities

ABAAD - Resource Centre for Gender Equality Act for the disappeared Action Contre la Faim American University of Beirut Association Justice et Misericorde Balsam Caritas Lebanon Migrant Centre Centre Libanais des Droits Humains Cross Psychiatric Hospital Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit Doctors without Borders Foundation for the Social Promotion of Culture Handicap International HelpAge International Himaya Holy Spirit University of Kaslik Imam El Sadr Foundation Institute for Development, Research, Advocacy and Applied Care International Alert International Committee of the Red Cross International Rescue Committee Jinan University Khiam Center Lebanese American University Lebanese Medical Association for Sexual Health Lebanese Physical Handicapped Union Lebanese Psychiatric Society Lebanese Psychological Association Lebanese Society of Family Medicine Lebanese University Lebanese Welfare Association for Handicapped Legal Agenda Marsa Sexual Health Center Médecins du Monde National Committee for Palliative Care Order of Nurses Order of Pharmacists Oui pour la vie **Restart Centre**

Saint Joseph University Sanad Soins Infirmier et Développement Communautaire Syndicat des Psychothérapeutes et des Psychanalystes Tabyeen University of Balamand

Rabih Chammay

Head of the National Mental Health Programme Ministry of Public Health Lebanon

ACRONYMS

AIDS ARV	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome Anti-retroviral treatment
DALYs	Disability-Adjusted Life-Years
DSM IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition
FDW	Foreign Domestic Worker
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
GP	General Practitioner
GSHS	Global School Health Survey
HIS	Health Information System
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ICD	International Classification of Disease
ICRC	International Committee of the Red Cross
IMC	International Medical Corps
INGO	International Non-Governmental Organization
LGBT	Lesbian Gay Bisexual and Transsexual
LPA	Lebanese Psychological Association
MEHE	Ministry of Education and Higher Education
mhGAP	mental health Gap Action Programme
mhGAP-IG	mental health Gap Action Programme- Intervention Guide
MHPSS	Mental Health and Psychosocial Support
MOPH	Ministry of Public Health
MOIM	Ministry of Interior and Municipalities
MOJ	Ministry of Justice
MOSA	Ministry of Social Affairs
NAP	National AIDS Program
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
NMHP	National Mental Health Programme
NSSF	National Social Security Fund
OST	Opioid Substitution Treatment
PHC	Primary Health Care
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RSA	Rapid Situation Assessment
SDC	Social Development Centre
SGBV	Sexual and Gender Based Violence
UN	United Nations
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNGASS	United Nations General Assembly Special Session
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
UNRWA	United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine
WHO	World Health Organization
WHO-AIMS	World Health Organization Assessment Instrument for Mental health
YLDs	Systems
YLLS	Years Lived with Disability Years of Life Lost
I LLO	

Stigma remains a main challenge facing mental health and substance use, cutting across all aspects of care and leading to discrimination, negatively impacting service development, delivery and utilization. Chronic under-funding and the inclination of funding towards curative hospital-based care have led to a scarcity of specialized human resources and services that are mostly based in the private sector. The public sector, while progressively regaining its leadership and regulatory role, is currently overstretched due to the increase in demography following the Syrian crisis. Consensus between the different actors, as well as political will, are the driving forces towards setting a national mental health and substance use strategy, to bridge the treatment gap, improve access to quality care, promote and protect human rights, and restore mental health through effective prevention, promotion, and treatment.

The MOPH vision is for all people living in Lebanon to have the opportunity to enjoy the best possible mental health and wellbeing. The strategy addresses mental and substance use disorders in a cost-effective, evidence-based and multidisciplinary approach with an emphasis on community involvement, continuum of care, human rights, and cultural relevance. The goals and domains of action of the strategy are in line with the WHO Global Action Plan for Mental Health (2013-2020). The strategy covers five domains; strengthening effective leadership and governance for mental health (domain 1); providing comprehensive, integrated and responsive mental health and social care services in community-based settings for all populations (domain 2) especially the needs of specific vulnerable groups (domain 5). Another domain covers implementing key promotion and prevention activities for mental health and substance use disorders (domain 3). Obtaining evidence-based knowledge to inform mental health policy and service development through an operational Health Information System and coordinated national research practice is another domain (domain 4). Strategic objectives are set under every domain of action. In addition, yearly targets are developed to ensure successful achievement of these objectives.

INTRODUCTION

The Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment Strategy highlights Lebanon's vision and objectives for the coming 6 years. This strategy supports evidence-based practice among professionals and provision of optimal services as well as changing peoples' attitudes towards mental health and substance use.

In May 2014, the MOPH launched the National Mental Health Programme with the support of WHO, UNICEF, and International Medical Corps (IMC), with the aim of reforming mental health care in Lebanon and providing services beyond medical treatment at the community level, in line with Human Rights and the latest evidence for best practices.

The programme has been working on many fronts: integration of mental health into primary care, engaging universities and scientific societies, mapping of the mental health system in Lebanon, developing key documents for mental health, to name a few. In addition, the MOPH established and is currently chairing the Mental Health and Psychosocial Support (MHPSS) task force. Co-chaired by WHO and UNICEF, this task force includes around 40 organizations working on the Syrian Crisis response in Lebanon with the aim of harmonizing and mainstreaming MHPSS in all sectors and improving access to care.

One year after its launch, the NMHP is launching a Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment Strategy for Lebanon for the period of 2015-2020. This is in line with the MOPH policy to expand existing services provided since many years and that consisted of covering inpatient care in psychiatric hospitals and psychotropic medications for outpatients who do not benefit from any health coverage plan.

The current document is the result of a long series of hard work, effort, time, research, and expertise. In order to build on solid grounds, the NMHP activated the work on a draft for a national strategy jointly written by WHO and MOPH in 2011. The draft was revised in line with the regional framework for mental health before being shared with around 20 local and international experts for review. Feedback was compiled and the comments were integrated into a third draft. A national meeting was held to specifically discuss the strategic objectives for identified vulnerable groups such as survivors of SGBV, LGBT community, domestic workers, survivors of torture, and families of missing persons, resulting in a fourth draft.

A final national consensus meeting in April 2015 adopted the final document that comprises all national priorities identified by the main actors before being launched in May 2015.

We are delighted to see the launching of this important document, that incorporates inputs from all actors in mental health and substance use in Lebanon, and that will guide the mental health reform in Lebanon for the next 6 years.

I would like to commend Dr Rabih Chammay for coordinating all these efforts and to thank each and every one who contributed to this document. We remain confident that the same collaboration that led to producing this strategy will continue in the future to ensure the implementation with the same commitment and enthusiasm.

Walid Ammar

Director General Ministry of Public Health

I. Global overview

Mental and substance use disorders constitute one of the top public health concerns, as measured by prevalence, disability, burden of disease, and mortality. At any point in time, no less than 10% of the population has mental disorders as reported by the World Health Organization (WHO) from more than a decade ago (1). According to the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study¹ of 2010 (2), mental and substance use disorders accounted for 183.9 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) worldwide and comprised approximately 7.4% of the total disease burden. The global epidemiological transition over the past decades, and the shift from communicable to non-communicable diseases, translated to a further increase in the number of sufferers from mental and substance use disorders which now represent 4 of the 10 leading causes of disability worldwide (1). Table 1 shows the breakdown of diseases within the mental disorders category as a percent of global DALYs.

Disorder	Percent of Global DALYs within the mental disorders category (2010)
Major Depressive Disorder	34.12
Anxiety Disorders	14.49
Drug Use Disorders	10.80
Alcohol Use Disorders	9.53
Schizophrenia	8.10
Bipolar Disorder	6.95
Other mental disorders	16.03

Table 1. Percent of Global DALYs within the mental disorders category (2010) (2)

¹ The Global Burden of Disease study measures burden in "disability adjusted life years" (DALYs), which is a way of quantifying the health gap between current and ideal health status. DALYs are a representation of the total number of years lost to illness, disability, or premature death within a given population. DALYs are calculated by adding the number of years of life lost (YLLs) to the number of years lived with disability (YLDs) for a certain disease or disorder.

^{12 |} Mental Health and Substance Use Strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

In terms of mortality, mental and substance use disorders are strongly correlated with suicide, estimated to be around one million suicides annually (3), with more than 75% of suicides occurring in low- and middle-income countries. This translates into one suicide death every 40 seconds. Subsequently, suicide ranks second leading cause of death among 15–29 years olds (for both genders) (3).

Mental and substance use disorders are correlated with suboptimal access to appropriate care, low rates of treatment, poor adherence to treatment, and an increase in risky behaviours in addition to stigma and discrimination (1). This is accentuated in low- and middle-income countries as 80% of the global disease burden due to mental and substance use disorders is found in these areas (4). It is estimated that the treatment gap for mental and substance use disorders is 76.3–85.4% in less-developed countries (5). This translates into around four out of five people in contexts of low- and middle-income countries who need mental health services and do not receive them.

Narrowing down the scope to the Eastern Mediterranean Region, mental and substance use disorders are quite common as psychological distress rates vary between 15.6% and 35.5%, with higher rates in countries under complex emergency situations (6). The most frequent disorders in the Region are depression and anxiety. In terms of DALYs, mental and substance use disorders account for 12% of the DALYs lost in the Region. As for treatment gaps, based on the WHO-AIMS² project, an overall treatment gap of more than 90% is suggested for mental and substance use disorders.

Various risk factors increase the risk for mental and substance use disorders, namely poverty, conflict, displacement, gender-based violence, low education levels, and chronic physical health conditions (1, 4, 7). In their turn, mental and substance use disorders worsen social and economic circumstances, leading to a vicious cycle of poverty and illness, exacerbated by stigma and discrimination. Due to the great impact they have on individuals' and communities' social and economic wellbeing, mental and substance use disorders were granted a United Nations General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS) in 2012 (8), positioning them as a global development priority.

² The WHO-AIMS is an Assessment Instrument for Mental health Systems. It is a tool for collecting essential information on the mental health system in order to strengthen and improve this system. By definition, the latter includes all organizations and resources focused on improving mental health. The report in the Eastern Mediterranean Region includes 14 countries in the Region that completed WHO-AIMS between 2005 and 2009.

II. The context of Lebanon

A. MENTAL DISORDERS IN LEBANON

Mental health has been an increasing public health concern. Latest evidence dating from 2008 shows that approximately 4.6% of the Lebanese population had experienced a severe mental disorder (including depression and anxiety) in the previous year before the study (9). In addition, around 25.8% met the criteria for at least one of the mental disorders³ and 10.5% experienced more than one disorder at some point in their lives. Depression was the most prevalent individual disorder (lifetime prevalence of 9.9%) (9). Anxiety disorders were found in 16.7% of the population while mood disorders in 12.6%. As for suicide, 4.3% of the population experienced suicidal ideation and 2% attempted suicide (10).

Very few individuals who experienced any type of mental disorder had ever received any professional treatment. For those who did seek professional treatment, a substantial delay ranging from 6 years to 28 years was noticed between the onset of the disorder and the beginning of professional treatment (9), leading to increased burden on healthcare. Another big share of the population goes to religious healers or "spiritual advisers", and fortune tellers for treatment (9). The high prevalence of mental disorders, the early age of onset and long delays in seeking treatment have exacerbated the burden of mental disorders. This is in addition to the sensitive and taboo nature of the topic which hinders proper reporting (9).

Furthermore, individuals exposed to war-related events are at a higher risk for developing a mental disorder (3.1 times more likely to experience mood disorders and 2 times more for anxiety disorders) (10). In fact, approximately 70% of the Lebanese population was exposed to one or more war events, including 60% of children ages 0–10 (11) and, up to 38% of the Lebanese population had been a war refugee/displaced. The effect of war exposures is cumulative and this is more evident in Lebanon where political unrests and armed conflicts are continuous (12).

³ As classified by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) which is one of the standard classifications of mental disorders used by mental health professionals. It consists of 3 key components; (1) the diagnostic classification, (2) the diagnostic criteria sets, and (3) the descriptive text.

^{14 |} Mental Health and Substance Use Strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

B. SUBSTANCE USE DISORDERS IN LEBANON

Most of the studies conducted in Lebanon in relation to drug use since 2003 point towards a unanimity with regard to perceptions of increasing drug use, particularly amongst youth (15-24 years). Based on the Rapid Situation Assessment (RSA) (2003) that was done in diverse segments of the Lebanese population, it was shown that substance use is initiated as early as 9 years of age, and the mean age of first drunkenness was 15 to 17 years (13, 14). Most substances that persons tend to experiment with are alcohol and nicotine, followed by cannabis (hashish/marijuana), the latter being the most commonly used illicit drug in both high school and university students (14). Half of the treatment admissions were due to Heroin use. Around half of the persons using substance and who are seeking treatment or institutionalized also commonly inject drugs and high rates of needle sharing was perceived. As for treatment gap, only 2.1% of university students and 2.8% of high school students reported ever seeking professional help for substance use problems (excluding alcohol). The most common reason for not seeking treatment is unperceived need (14).

C. VULNERABLE GROUPS IN LEBANON

Some groups are particularly vulnerable and need more attention when it comes to mental health and substance use disorders as they are more susceptible to stigma or marginalization and are less likely to seek mental health/substance use services. In Lebanon, vulnerable groups include persons with disabilities, children and adolescents, older adults, persons receiving palliative care, persons in prisons, survivors of torture and their families, families of disappeared from armed conflicts and wars, persons living with HIV/AIDS, survivors of sexual and gender-based violence, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transsexual (LGBT) community, foreign domestic workers, Palestinian refugees, and displaced populations. Table 2 provides demography of the main vulnerable groups residing in Lebanon.

Table 2. Persons residing in Lebanon

Persons residing in Lebanon	Number	Source
Residing in Lebanon, excluding displaced Syrians and Palestinians living in camps	4,232,381	Calculation based on the living household survey 2007, and accounting for death and birth as reported to MOPH <i>(15)</i>
• Elderly >65y (9.6%)	406,309	Calculation using the new estimate of residents of 2014 and the percentage as stated in the living household survey 2007 (15)
• Children <15y (24.6%)	1,041,166	ldem
 Adolescent and youth (15-24y) (19.5%) 	825,315	ldem
 Persons living with disabilities (2%) 	84,648	Calculation using the new estimate of residents of 2014 and the percentage as stated in the living household survey 2004 (<i>16</i>)
Palestinians living in camps	238,500 (out of 449,957 registered in Lebanon)	UNRWA (17)
Displaced Syrians	1,172,753	UNHCR (18)
Foreign domestic workers	>250,000	ILO (19)
Persons living with HIV/ AIDS	1,780 (cumulative)	NAP (20)
Persons in prison	~ 6,000 (snapshot) 11,958 (during 2014 ⁴)	Ministry of Justice (MOJ) snapshot July 2015 (incarcerated; including arrested and convicted) (21)
Families of disappeared from armed conflicts and war	~ 3,500 registered names with ICRC >17,000 reported missing to police ⁵	International Committee of the Red Cross report (22)

 $^{^{4}}$ The cumulative number of persons in prisons during the year 2014 is 11,958. However, at any point in time, around half of them (~6,000) are found in prisons. 5 This number is reported to the police but without any investigation. Therefore it is considered to be inflated.

1- Persons with disabilities

This group includes mental and physical disabilities, at all age categories, and represents 2% of the persons residing in Lebanon. Living with a disability leads to a much lower chance of getting a job or an education *(23)*.

2- Children and adolescents

The Global School Health Survey (GSHS) data shows that around 15.2% of the students had serious suicidal ideations, 11.6% made a plan about how they would attempt suicide, and 13.8% actually attempted suicide one or more times in the last year before the initiation of the study (24, 25). Recent data in Beirut (2012) shows that about 26.1% of adolescents aged 11 to 17 years were diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder (26). Of those diagnosed with mental conditions, only 6% reported seeking professional help.

The GSHS-2011 results show that 5% of students aged 13-15 ever used drugs compared to 3.5% in 2005 (*24, 25*). Alarmingly, among those who had ever used drugs, almost half of them did before the age of 10 years. As for alcohol use, around 28.5% of students had at least one alcoholic drink in the past 30 days (*25*) compared with 19.5% in 2005 (*24*). Nearly 87% of students who had ever had a drink, had their first drink before the age of 14 years. Almost 17% of students have experienced adverse effects of alcohol use such as hang-over, feeling sick, getting into trouble, or missing school at least once in their lifetime (*25*).

3- Older adults

The elderly (65 years and over) constituted 9.6% of the Lebanese population in 2007 (*15*) and are expected to reach 10.2% by 2025 (*27*). Among this group, 9.3% suffer from a mood disorder and 3% had suicidal ideation (*28*). In underprivileged neighbourhoods around Beirut, depression was reported among 1 in 4 respondents older than 60 (*29*). In Beirut and Mount Lebanon, dementia was prevalent in 10.5% of a randomly selected sample of participants (*30*). Also, dementia was reported in 60% of one nursing home residents. Among these patients, 49.2% had severe forms of dementia (*31*).

4- Persons receiving palliative care

According to a qualitative study on Lebanese oncology patients receiving palliative care, major complaints were distress from being dependent and losing control of their own lives, as well as fearing pain and feeling worry for family members (32).

5- Persons in prisons

With the current poor conditions in most Lebanese prisons, the physical and mental health of inmates is at stake. In Roumieh prison, around one third of the inmates are incarcerated on the grounds of drug-related crimes (33). Around

65.1% of those inmates were diagnosed with lifetime substance dependence (14). The majority of inmates never perceived the need to seek treatment whereby only a third of them ever sought treatment for substance use disorders (mainly heroin). According to the 2012 National Health Statistics, the most common chronic disease detected among inmates was depression (34).

6- Survivors of torture and their families

The consequences of torture reach far beyond physical pain and may include symptoms such as intrusive thoughts or memories, severe anxiety, insomnia, nightmares, depression and memory lapses and in many cases Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) *(35)*. Research among 135 survivors of torture and arbitrary detention showed that the main needs arise from problems of a psychological nature, and this burden has prevented the survivors from reintegrating in society *(36)*.

7- Families of disappeared from armed conflicts and wars

Emotional distress is the main burden facing families of missing persons in addition to the difficulty of coping with uncertainty regarding the fate of these persons. Many have been missing for more than 40 years due to war and armed conflicts. Most of these persons' families suffer headaches, sleep problems, nervousness, excessive worry, general fatigue and unhappiness (22).

8-Persons living with HIV/AIDS

The prevalence of mental disorders –mostly psychological distress, depression, and suicide- is significantly higher in persons living with HIV than in the general population, with a high concentration of cases among vulnerable, marginalized and stigmatized groups such as drug users and persons in prisons (37). This is in addition to the loss of their family, social support, and friends. The situation for persons living with HIV/AIDS is also aggravated by the stigma faced and the minimal access to treatment (37). In Lebanon, around 900 persons living with HIV are currently receiving free anti-retroviral treatment (ARV) (based on eligibility criteria), through the National AIDS Program (NAP) (20). The latter are more prone to mental disorders associated with the ARV treatment which lowers their adherence to the medication. It is a vicious cycle of illness whereby, in its turn, mental illness lowers the likelihood of receiving ARV treatment (37).

9- Survivors of sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV)

SGBV is violence that is directed against a person on the basis of gender and comprises rape, sexual abuse, domestic violence, naming but a few (38). Survivors are at a higher risk of developing depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and anxiety (39). Sexual and other forms of gender-based violence are increasingly reported in situations of complex emergencies. Research conducted since the year 2000 shows that 35% of women presenting to health care centres in Lebanon were exposed to SGBV (40).

10- Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transsexual (LGBT) community

The International Classification of Disease (ICD) (10th edition), among several classification systems, declassified homosexuality as a mental disorder (*41*). In 2013, the Lebanese Psychiatric Society (LPS) and the Lebanese Psychological Association (LPA) stated that homosexuality is not a mental disorder and does not need to be treated (*42*). However, the social stigma associated with homosexuality and mistreatment of the LGBT community remains, especially that the common interpretation of the Lebanese law associates this type of sexual orientation to a crime. As a coping mechanism, some members of this community resort to various forms of social avoidance or withdrawal while others describe substance use (mainly alcohol) as another way of coping (*43*).

11- Foreign domestic workers (FDWs)

Many FDWs in Lebanon have been victims of harsh working conditions, long working hours, little or no pay, and in many situations verbal and even physical abuse, which has been affecting their physical and mental health. This is reflected in the fact that psychiatric admissions of female FDWs to psychiatric hospitals has increased in recent years (44). Additionally, data from 2008 shows that close to one FDW commits suicide each week in Lebanon (45).

12- Palestinian refugees

All 12 official Palestinian refugee camps in Lebanon are facing serious problems mostly due to on-going conflict and unrest and unfortunate living conditions characterized by overcrowding and inadequate basic infrastructure (46). Among patients approaching medical care in Burj-Al-Barajni camp, depression affects almost one-third, 22% have anxiety, and 14% psychosis (47).

13- Displaced populations

Up till July 2015, the number of registered displaced Syrians in Lebanon reached around 1,200,000 (18). Around 300,000 displaced Syrians are estimated to be most vulnerable, 60% of them being women and children. Adding to past exposure to traumatic events related to war and conflict (48), the majority of this population is currently experiencing various hardships related to displacement, impoverishment, loss of home/loved ones, and lack of access to basic services. Moreover, domestic violence has been increasing (48). Since January 2014, a mental health and psychosocial (MHPSS) task force, chaired by the MOPH and co-chaired by WHO and UNICEF, was established to coordinate the MHPSS interventions of the different actors caring for displaced Syrians.

D. SNAPSHOT OF THE MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE USE SYSTEM IN LEBANON

The following section will provide a brief overview of the general health system in Lebanon and will discuss the mental health services: (a) primary health care (PHC); and (b) in-patient care; substance use services; and human resources. This section will also provide an idea of the national mental health research, laws and legislation, financing, and the role of media.

1- Overview of the health system in Lebanon

The health system in Lebanon is highly fragmented, characterized by a dominant private sector, a very active NGO sector, and a public sector progressively regaining its leadership and regulatory role over the past two decades. Main features in the Lebanese health system are the public, the private, and the public-private mix.

A widespread network of services was developed as part of the Primary Health Care strategy that was revised in 2004. This strategy has established a link between the private sector and the public sector through the NGOs and the existing local bodies. Out of the 920 centres (PHC centres and dispensaries) managed either by MOPH, Ministry of Social Affairs (MOSA), municipalities or NGOs, around 200 PHC centres⁶ are affiliated with the MOPH PHC network, providing various packages of ambulatory health services.

With a total of 172 private hospitals (49) offering around 10,200 beds (50), there is an oversupply of private beds in comparison to a recovering public hospital sector accounting for 28 public hospitals (51) which offer about 1,700 beds (50). The health system is also characterized by a surplus of medical doctors and a shortage in nurses and paramedical staff, with the following estimates; physicians: 320/100,000 population (52); nurses: 307/100,000 population (53). Most of the aforementioned staff do not receive proper training on mental health and psychosocial interventions. Accreditation system for both PHC centres and hospitals is in place.

With the advent of the Syrian crisis, the total resident population increased by more than 30% positioning Lebanon as the host of the highest number per capita of displaced Syrians (54). This demographic change has impacted heavily on the country's economy, infrastructure, employment, environmental

⁶ The centres enrolled in the network are governed by a contractual agreement with the MOPH for provision of health services mainly: child health and vaccination, reproductive health, oral health; treatment for common diseases, early screening for non-communicable diseases, medication, health awareness, and environmental health. They also benefit from capacity building and support through the existing health programs. An additional 250 centres (outside the MOPH network) benefit from medication for chronic diseases subsidized by the MOPH.

^{20 |} Mental Health and Substance Use Strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

health, and basic services. The World Bank estimated that during the 2012-2014 period, around 170,000 Lebanese are pushed into poverty (in addition to the 1.2 million currently living below the upper poverty line) (*54*). These latter determinants of health have led to significant impacts on the health system, overstretched with increased utilization of the health services at PHC level and in-hospital by around 50% and 35%, respectively, in addition to an increase in demand on non-communicable diseases services (especially cardiovascular and mental health) (*55*).

2- Mental health services

Similarly to the general health system, mental health services are predominantly provided by the private sector as well as mostly skewed to specialized outpatient and inpatient care. Strategic shifts are steered by the MOPH towards integration of mental health into primary health care.

a- Primary Health Care:

Mental health care is not integrated in most PHC centres and dispensaries. The level of integration varies among different entities, ranging from delivery of essential psychotropic medication to very few having consultations by a mental health specialist. In 2014, as part of the MOPH plan for integrating mental health into primary health care, PHC workers (GPs, nurses, and social workers) of 50 centres within the MOPH network have received training on assessing, identifying, managing and referring mental health cases using the mental health Gap Action Programme- Intervention Guide⁷ (mhGAP-IG).

Provision of mental health services in outpatient care comprises mainly private clinics involving psychiatrists and psychologists. In a few cases, multiple mental health specialists will work in a multidisciplinary team to provide services mainly with children with learning difficulties.

b- In-patient care:

In Lebanon there are currently 8 psychiatric wards (in general hospitals) that provide in-patient mental health services. This translates into approximately 1.5 beds for mental health in general hospitals per 100,000 population (56).

In addition, there are 5 active mental health hospitals in Lebanon with approximately 28.52 beds per 100,000 population (56).

⁴ The mhGAP is an intervention guide for clinical decision-making for the priority mental health conditions namely depression, psychosis, epilepsy, developmental and behavioural disorders in children and adolescents, dementia, alcohol and drug use disorders, self-harm/suicide, stress, and other significant emotional or medically unexplained complaints. It was developed by WHO and launched in 2010 for low- and middle- income countries. The mhGAP training materials were adapted to local context.

3. Services for persons with substance use disorders

Several NGOs in Lebanon have been quite active in addressing issues related to substance use disorders through a variety of interventions such as prevention, rehabilitation, abstinence, and harm reduction. With regards to substance use prevention, multiple approaches are being implemented such as life skills education, peer-to-peer education, road shows, and general awareness campaigns. Few detoxification beds are available in public and private hospitals. As for rehabilitation, NGOs are offering this service in residential settings or in outpatient clinics, with limited capacity to receive beneficiaries. With regards to harm reduction, the services remain limited, varying from Opioid Substitution Treatment (OST), impaired driving awareness campaigns, drop-in centres, needle and syringe exchange programs, and outreach and educational services to minimize risky behaviours.

4. Human resources

The figures below are estimates of the current number of the main specialized human resources working in mental health facilities or private practice (56):

- 71 psychiatrists; 1.26 per 100,000 population
- 193 psychologists; 3.42 per 100,000 population

Main schools of psychotherapy training are mostly focused on longterm interventions with no national certification processes yet in place. Psychoanalysis remains the main school of psychotherapy training, with recent schools emerging such as cognitive and behavioural therapy, systemic, and psychosomatic interventions.

5. Research in mental health

Research regarding mental health in Lebanon in the last decade targeted mainly prevalence, treatment/medication side effects, diagnostic tools, various disease and their associated mental conditions in addition to ethics, perceptions/stigma and disease determinants, involving adults and children and adolescents. As for substance use, research focused mainly on alcohol addiction. Only few studies target mental health and substance use service research (including policy, plans, and programmes).

6. Legislations

The latest mental health decree law (ACT#72) (57), enacted in 1983, focuses on the organization of the care, treatment, and rehabilitation of patients with mental conditions as well as protecting the rights of these patients and their families. It regulates guardianship issues for people with mental conditions and facilitates the access to in-hospital care for the most vulnerable groups. The law stipulates the creation of a mental health body, under the governance of the MOPH, to oversee and implement mental health policies in Lebanon, and monitor mental health services and treatment practices in health facilities.

This decree law is currently under revision to address some main issues such as the access to free community-based mental health care, the standards and regulations for involuntary admissions, and the working modalities of the mental health body, in addition to accrediting facilities and credentialing mental health professionals. It also adds legislation provision for facilitating the creation of patient associations, family associations, and support groups. In addition, it specifies accountability and criminal penalties for violations of the law. A law was proposed by the LPA to regulate the profession of psychologists and another law was proposed by the syndicate of psychotherapists to regulate the profession of psychotherapists.

The substance use law (ACT#673) (58) enacted in 1998, and its amendments, are related to narcotic drugs, and psychotropic medications and their precursors. It focuses on supply reduction, penal provisions, and governance bodies and international cooperation for drug control. It classifies substance use as a crime with a sanction varying between 3 months and 3 years in addition to a fine (article 127). Lately, the judiciary system can refer an arrested person for substance use to a ministerial committee which has the authority to offer the person the option of rehabilitation instead of prison, especially if it is a first arrest for the crime at hand.

Although several decrees have been issued to restrict the sale of anxiolytics and sedatives, however, a few medications with potential for abuse are still easily accessed. In 2010, a ministerial decision allowed provision of Buprenorphine to individuals using heroin under strict supervision by a psychiatrist and close follow-up by a multidisciplinary mental health team.

Although the mental health decree law (ACT#72) (57) mentions protection of rights of patients with mental conditions in general, however, patients' rights are detailed in a separate law (ACT#574) (59) enacted in 2004. The latter specifies the right of the patient (or representative) to get medical information and directly access the medical file, to consent on the treatment act, to have respect of personal life and patient confidentiality.

7. Financing

Despite the different financial schemes in Lebanon (Table 3), around half of the population remains uncovered, excluding displaced Syrians and Palestinians living in camps (covered by UNHCR and UNRWA respectively). For this section of the population, the MOPH covers hospital stays and expensive medications through the programme of catastrophic illnesses and has recently engaged, through the Universal Health Coverage project, into a pre-paid set of services

to be delivered to the most vulnerable Lebanese. Most schemes involve some cost sharing. Moreover, the burden of out-of-pocket expenditure remains the largest source of health expenditure in Lebanon although the MOPH has succeeded in reducing the out-of-pocket expenditures from 60% in 1998 to 38% in 2012. In addition, health spending as a share of GDP has fallen from 12.4% to 7.2% (*34, 60*).

Insurance coverage	Type of insurance or insurance institution	Percentage
	National Social Security Fund (NSSF)	26.7
	Private insurance	11.5
	Army and the Internal Security Forces	8.3
	Public Servants Cooperation	5.0
	Other type (municipality, etc.)	0.7
Total covered		52.2
Total not covered		47.8

Table 3. Distribution of actual labour force by insurance coverage type

Of the total MOPH health expenditures, only 5% is directed towards mental health, out of which around half (54%) is spent on in-patient care (56).

As for mental health coverage, the majority of private insurances do not cover any care. All other schemes cover psychiatric consultations, psychotropic medications, and in-patient care with inconsistencies in the level of coverage across different financing schemes.

As for substance use, care is mainly covered through MOPH and MOSA.

8. Media

By providing a platform for communicating evidence-based, health-related messages, media can play a key role in decreasing stigma and enhancing screening, prevention, and treatment of mental and substance use disorders. Up till now, the media in Lebanon are not using any specific strategy to approach mental health issues, although some journalists have expressed a high level of interest in becoming important sources of public information and in working towards decreasing the stigma. Some private entities initiated in the last few years limited campaigns on specific topics such as stigma, suicide and substance use. Television programmes also covered some issues related to specific aspects of mental health and substance use with different levels of sensitivity and accuracy and various contradictory effects.

E. MAIN OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES

Stigma remains a main challenge facing mental health and substance use, cutting across all aspects of care and leading to discrimination, with a huge impact on service development, delivery and utilization. Low levels of public awareness about mental and substance use disorders and their related treatments leads to not perceiving the need to seek adequate and professional care in addition to misconceptions about treatments. This is accentuated by the media channelling scattered information which is not always evidencebased. Adding to this, chronic under-funding and the inclination of funding towards curative hospital-based care and services have led to a scarcity of mental health human resources and services that are mainly available in the private sector, leading to limited access to care. Based on the WHO service organization pyramid (Figure 1), the levels of services in Lebanon are inverted, meaning that the tip of the pyramid -hospitalization and specialized care- takes the largest share of funding while the base of the pyramid -primary care and informal care- remains neglected. In addition, the availability of services for persons with mental and substance use disorders remains limited and mostly centralized, with no referral system in place to ensure continuum of care.





⁸ In line with the WHO mental health service organization pyramid, mental health services start with self-care and informal care that are generally provided by one's self or one's network and peers, and are cross-cutting across all levels of care. Formal mental health care services should be offered through widespread PHC services and should be made easily accessible and affordable to the population. Specialized psychiatric care should remain at the tip of the pyramid.

Although many components of the current mental health and substance use laws are stated to protect patients and provide them with adequate care, and stipulations of several bodies to oversee the implementation of care are mentioned, however, the level of implementation of these components remains very low and the overseeing bodies are not fully in place. This is in addition to low levels of awareness of health professionals and the general population about these laws, which further hinders proper implementation (especially at the level of actors directly implementing the laws such as the judges, lawyers, and police officers). Some components of these laws need to be revisited especially the ones related to the criminalization of persons with substance use disorders, as the focus of interventions is harm reduction, rehabilitation, and reintegration into community rather than sanctioning.

Lack of research especially service (operational) research and service organization and effectiveness remains a major challenge to informing strategic planning, interventions, and policy change. Redirecting legislations, policies, financing, and services to sustainable cost-effective and human rights-oriented community-based quality care is grounded on proper research, surveillance, monitoring, and evaluation. The recent assessment of mental health system of services (WHO-AIMS) is a building block for priority actions in mental health care. The establishment of indicator-based health information system (HIS) will also serve as a ground for mental health surveillance and monitoring, and facilitate evaluation.

The increase of the population residing in Lebanon due to the Syrian crisis has led to overstretching the health system. Although it is considered a huge challenge, and showed the gap in health services especially mental health, it also created an opportunity to synergize efforts. In fact, the shortage of funding has pushed the humanitarian actors to harmonize approaches and build upon the existing health system and redirect interventions towards primary health care.

"Emergency situations – in spite of the adversity and challenges they create – are openings to transform mental health care"

WHO, 2013 (62)

This context created the momentum for collaboration between ministries, UN agencies, and international and local NGOs and for mobilization of resources towards developmental aspects. This momentum was also facilitated by a history of strategic cooperation between the MOPH and most mental health actors as well as the commitment of the MOPH to bridge the gap in mental health services and the establishment of the NMHP within the MOPH.

Consensus between the different actors, as well as political will, are the driving forces towards setting a national mental health and substance use strategy, to bridge the treatment gap, improve access to quality care, promote and protect human rights, and restore mental health through effective prevention, promotion, and treatment.

A- VISION

All people living in Lebanon will have the opportunity to enjoy the best possible mental health and wellbeing.

B- MISSION

To ensure the development of a sustainable mental health system that guarantees the provision and universal accessibility of high quality mental health curative and preventive services through a cost-effective, evidencebased and multidisciplinary approach, with an emphasis on community involvement, continuum of care, human rights, and cultural relevance.

C- VALUES AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES

The NMHP employs a human rights based approach in all its activities including the National Mental Health Strategy, which is constructed around a set of values and guiding principles that stem from social, cultural, economic, civil, and political rights. Therefore, the programme strives to respect and promote the following values and principles that form the pillars of this strategy:

Autonomy

All services will respect and promote the independence and self-sufficiency of people with mental health needs and disabilities and their care givers, through openness and honesty in the provision of information, respect in individual interactions, empowerment and partnership in service planning and delivery.

Dignity

All people affected with mental health disorders and their families, and all people providing services, will receive equal access to opportunities, services and care practices that fit with their diverse needs associated with their health status but also with their gender, age, religion, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status, legal status, geographic location, language, culture, or other personal characteristics.

Participation

Participation is a hallmark of a quality mental health system and a key mechanism for ensuring accountability. All stakeholders, including persons with mental health disorders, and their families, will participate as full citizens in the planning, legislation, development, delivery and evaluation of mental health services. Participation will be consensus-oriented, through the mediation of different views to reach a consensus on what is the best interest of the whole community.

Empowerment

All stakeholders will be empowered, through ensuring their rights to acceptable and accessible services, to autonomy and self-determination, to be recognized as a person before the law without discrimination and through the destigmatization of mental disorders and the guarantee of more inclusive and respectful services with user and provider/caregiver involvement. In particular, all users of mental health services will exercise an adequate level of control over events in their lives, by enjoying decision-making power, having access to adequate resources and information, and having a range of options to choose from.

Accountability and integrity

At all times and at all levels, a high level of accountability shall be maintained in the development and management of the national mental health system, to all those affected by the programme's decisions and actions, including the public and all institutional stakeholders, through the maintenance of transparency and the respect of the rule of law.

Quality

The whole mental health system will be geared towards quality. High quality mental health services, in line with clearly defined national and international standards, to all stakeholders, will be ensured at all levels through the use of evidence informed practices, the adoption of a responsive and regulatory approach, the development of qualified mental health professionals, and the maintenance of universal accessibility, comprehensiveness of services and continuity of care.

D- GOALS AND DOMAINS OF ACTION

The goals and domains of action of the Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment Strategy for Lebanon 2015-2020 are in line with the WHO Global Action Plan for Mental Health (2013-2020) and the proposed framework to scale up action on mental health in the Eastern Mediterranean Region.

The domains of action correspond to key performance areas where resources must be committed to achieve the set goals that address the identified critical issues to the strengthening of the mental health system in the country.

Strategic objectives⁹ are set under every domain of action as key measures of performance relative to critical success factors for the achievement of the set goals.

Domain	Goal
Domain 1 Leadership and governance	Strengthen effective leadership and governance for mental health.
Domain 2 Reorientation and scaling up of mental health services	Provide comprehensive, integrated and responsive mental health and social care services in community-based settings.
Domain 3 Promotion and prevention	Develop and implement key promotion and prevention strategies for mental health and substance use.
Domain 4 Information, evidence and research	Obtain evidence-based knowledge to inform mental health planning and service development through an operational Health Information System (HIS) and coordinated national research practice.
Domain 5 Vulnerable groups	Improve access to equitable evidence- based mental health services –preventive and curative– for all persons in the vulnerable groups living in Lebanon.

⁹ Some strategic objectives were reformulated based on further feedback from stakeholders, namely 1.4.3, 2.1.4, 4.2.1, 5.12.1, and 5.12.2

Domain 1

Leadership and governance

Goal: Strengthen effective leadership and governance for mental health.

DOMAIN 1: LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

Goal: Strengthen effective leadership and governance for mental health.

1.1 GOVERNANCE OF MENTAL HEALTH

Interventions will focus on:

- Creating a sustainable mental health and substance use department within the MOPH that provides a multi-sectorial and coordinated approach to mental health policy, development, and planning.

This requires the establishment of a common governance structure. The MOPH is committed to create a National Mental Health and Substance Use Department to facilitate and monitor the implementation of the Mental Health and Substance Use Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment Strategy for Lebanon. This department will work with other public entities, different ministries and government sectors such as; social affairs, housing, education, and employment/labour sectors; as well as community organizations, media (radio, television, newspaper) and partners in private and civil society - to oversee the development and governance of the policy, plans, and legislation.

Strategic objectives:

- 1.1.1 Establish a Mental Health and Substance Use unit or department at the MOPH, with adequate staffing and sustainable financial resources
- 1.1.2 Develop a child and gender sensitive Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Emergency Response Plan
- 1.1.3 Develop a National Substance Use strategy

1.2 FINANCING

Interventions will focus on:

- Ensuring sufficient funds to attain the strategic goals for mental and substance use disorders stated in this document.

The MOPH, with the government and all involved ministries and partners, will carefully revise the current budget, reallocate resources and seek funds for

ensuring the necessary budget to implement the mental health activities listed in this strategy. A clear funding strategy for the programme will be developed. Resources can also be mobilized from international donors and from the revision of the existing mental health budget.

Strategic objectives:

- 1.2.1 Revise MOPH budgetary allocations for mental health expenditures
- 1.2.2 Integrate defined priority mental health conditions in the basic health, social and child protection packages of the government and social/ private insurance reimbursement schemes

1.3 LEGISLATION AND HUMAN RIGHTS

Interventions will focus on:

- Enacting a mental health and substance use legislative framework in line with human rights and international conventions.

The MOPH, with the government and all involved ministries and partners, will review the mental health and substance use legislation. The new legislation will be a useful and effective tool to improve the situation of persons with mental and/or substance use disorders and ensure their protection against human rights violations, as well as the promotion of autonomy, liberty, and access to health care. The legislation will also tackle regulatory elements to ensure quality of care and service development, including setting standards for mental health care providers, registration and licensing procedures.

Strategic objectives:

- 1.3.1 Revise all existing laws and regulations related to mental health and substance use
- 1.3.2 Develop needed mental health and substance use related law proposals
- 1.3.3 Enact the MOPH revised mental health law for protection of persons with mental disorders

1.4 MEDIA, COMMUNICATION, AND ADVOCACY

Interventions will focus on:

- Increasing awareness levels on the NMHP, mental health literacy, and stigma and discrimination.

- Working with all mental health actors including persons with mental disorders

and their families to advocate for their rights and improved services.

The NMHP will be in charge of developing a mental health communication strategy that will help generate positive media coverage, change attitudes, increase awareness, generate support and encourage financial contributions. It will also disseminate information about the NMHP activities. An advocacy strategy will also be developed that aims at fighting stigma and discrimination, empowering persons with mental disorders and their families, lobbying for better financial coverage for the care and treatment of mental disorders, and protecting the rights of people with mental disorders.

Strategic objectives:

- 1.4.1 Develop a media and communication strategy
- 1.4.2 Establish an inter-sectorial collaboration mechanism between all relevant ministries and actors to mainstream mental health in other sectors
- 1.4.3 Facilitate the creation of independent service users and families associations
- 1.4.4 Develop a child and gender sensitive advocacy strategy for mental and substance use disorders related stigma and discrimination

Domain 2

Reorientation and scaling up of mental health services

Goal:

Provide comprehensive, integrated and responsive mental health and social care services in community-based settings.

DOMAIN 2: REORIENTATION AND SCALING UP OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

Goal: Provide comprehensive, integrated and responsive mental health and social care services in community-based settings.

2.1 ORGANIZATION OF SERVICES

Interventions will focus on:

- Reorienting services towards scaling-up integrated and community based mental health services for all persons living in Lebanon that are centred and adapted to people's needs through a recovery-oriented approach⁹.

These services will be organized according to the WHO optimal mix of services pyramid. This model will improve accessibility, availability, affordability and quality for persons living in Lebanon through the provision of services in the community in the least restrictive way possible. These services will include having trained multidisciplinary teams to provide supervision for PHC centres, act as referral points for specialized care for persons with mental and substance use disorders. This entails coordination between all health providers; primarily the MOPH, MOSA, Ministry of Interior and Municipalities (MOIM), NGOs, and INGOs that provide and/or support the provision of PHC services. Coordination between the PHC and the secondary and tertiary levels of care is also needed.

⁹ Recovery-oriented mental health practice refers to the application of sets of capabilities that support people to recognize and take responsibility for their own recovery and wellbeing and to define their goals, wishes and aspirations.

For further details: The national framework for recovery-oriented mental health services. Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ mental-pubs-n-recovfra
- 2.1.1 Integrate mental health into PHC centres and Social Development Centres (SDCs)¹⁰ that are part of the MOPH network
- 2.1.2 Develop community-based multidisciplinary mental health teams
- 2.1.3 Contract with general hospitals for beds in inpatient psychiatric wards
- 2.1.4 Monitor regularly mental health facilities to ensure protection of human, child and women's rights of persons with mental disorders using quality and rights standards in line with international treaties, conventions signed/ratified by the Government of Lebanon in addition to the national constitution and laws in place
- 2.1.5 Develop a referral system linking all levels of care, including all organizations working for the vulnerable groups¹¹ identified in the strategy
- 2.1.6 Develop eligibility criteria for persons in long-stay psychiatric hospitals to be reintegrated in the community, based on international guidelines and national assessments
- 2.1.7 Adapt and pilot an e-mental health guided self-help programme for Lebanon

2.2 HUMAN RESOURCES

Interventions will focus on:

- Ensuring the adequate human resources for the delivery of mental health services at all levels and the implementation of the strategy components.

Human resources are a key element for the success of any mental health reform as mental health and substance use service provision relies heavily on the skills, knowledge, and motivation of the persons providing them. Intersectorial action on mental health and substance use requires the engagement and coordination of health and non-health professionals. Specific trainings tailored to the needs of health professionals will be developed. Non-healthcare professionals will also be trained on actions they can take to improve the mental health of the people they come in contact with. They will be engaged in roles and actions to promote mental health care taking into consideration the human rights approach.

¹⁰ SDCs that are affiliated to the MOPH network are PHC centres run by MOSA.

¹¹ We mean by vulnerable groups the groups that are prone to psychological distress or mental disorders due to their circumstances. This does not mean that persons in these vulnerable groups necessarily suffer from mental disorders but we wanted to highlight the necessity of including them in the national strategy and, in some cases, cater for their specific needs.

^{36 |} Mental Health and Substance Use Strategy for Lebanon 2015 - 2020

- 2.2.1 Implement a capacity building plan tailored for specialized staff (MHPSS in-service providers) in line with the multidisciplinary approach, in compliance with the bio-psychosocial and recovery model, at all levels of care, in collaboration with relevant actors
- 2.2.2 Develop a capacity building proposal tailored for non-specialized health and social welfare/protection care staff at all levels of care in collaboration with all relevant actors (syndicates, orders, scientific societies, associations, etc.)
- 2.2.3 Develop a capacity building proposal tailored for non-health care staff (police, legal professions, religious leaders, teachers, community leaders, etc.) in collaboration with relevant ministries and actors
- 2.2.4 Revise the undergraduate mental health curricula for health and social welfare professionals and the postgraduate medical programmes towards a multidisciplinary approach in compliance with the biopsychosocial and recovery model in collaboration with academic institutions

2.3 PROCUREMENT AND DISTRIBUTION OF ESSENTIAL MEDICINES

Interventions will focus on:

- Ensuring sustainable procurement of agreed upon psychotropic medications from the national list for persons with mental disorders not covered by any health plan.

Provision of appropriate and effective medication is essential to ensure persons with mental disorders benefit from the opportunity to live active productive lives in the community. The most cost-effective drugs with minimal side effects will be procured and distributed to all health facilities in a way that maximizes benefit to those who need them in all geographical areas, using the MOPH network and securing a low abuse rate.

- 2.3.1 Update periodically the PHC essential psychotropic medications list
- 2.3.2 Ensure the uninterrupted availability of essential psychotropic medications in PHC centres through regular assessments of the PHC centres' needed quantities
- 2.3.3 Revise the MOPH list of psychotropic medications for prescriptions by specialists
- 2.3.4 Develop guidelines for the rational prescription of psychotropic medications
- 2.3.5 Revise the restricted prescription medications list of the MOPH

2.4 QUALITY IMPROVEMENT

Interventions will focus on:

- Continuous improvement in the quality of services provided in line with evidence-based, cost-effective and culturally appropriate interventions.

Only high quality implementation and service provision will ensure that the vision of this strategy is achieved. This means that only evidence-based interventions are provided for mental health and substance use at all service levels. It also implies that the available resources are used in a cost-effective way, and that service providers remain accountable to those who use them. Accreditation criteria for psychiatric wards, PHC centre, community services and mental health hospitals will be reviewed and updated. Clinical and service protocols for priority conditions (mental health Gap Action Programme) will also be developed.

- 2.4.1 Develop accreditation standards for mental health/substance use institutions/organizations taking into consideration the special needs of children, children with disabilities and other vulnerable groups
- 2.4.2 Develop a code of ethics for mental health/substance use service providers
- 2.4.3 Adopt a monitoring and evaluation system to ensure quality of mental health/substance use services

Domain 3

Promotion and prevention

Goal:

Develop and implement key promotion and prevention strategies for mental health and substance use.

DOMAIN 3: PROMOTION AND PREVENTION

Goal: Develop and implement key promotion and prevention strategies for mental health and substance use.

Promotion and prevention of mental health and substance use disorders is a key component of this strategy. Effective, evidence-based prevention programmes exist and can be tailored to the Lebanese context. In addition, the negative perception of persons with mental or substance use disorders can be a huge barrier to accessing services and can lead to discrimination and violation of human rights. Action will be taken to address this perception and to raise awareness about mental and substance use disorders, as well as their effective treatment.

- 3.1.1 Establish an inter-ministerial mechanism (between MOSA, Ministry of Education and Higher Education (MEHE), MOIM, MOJ and MOPH to develop and implement a national evidence-based MHPSS promotion and prevention action plan
- 3.1.2 Integrate evidence-based mental health promotion and prevention into national protection programming in collaboration with the MOSA (social protection, child protection, SGBV, minors in the judiciary system)
- 3.1.3 Integrate evidence-based mental health promotion and prevention into maternal and child health programmes
- 3.1.4 Integrate evidence-based mental health promotion and prevention into schools
- 3.1.5 Implement an evidence-based framework for prevention and monitoring of suicide

Domain 4

Information, evidence and research

Goal:

Obtain evidence-based knowledge to inform mental health planning and service development through an operational Health Information System (HIS) and coordinated national research practice.

DOMAIN 4: INFORMATION, EVIDENCE AND RESEARCH

Goal: Obtain evidence-based knowledge to inform mental health planning and service development through an operational Health Information System (HIS) and coordinated national research practice.

4.1 HEALTH INFORMATION SYSTEM

Interventions will focus on:

- Using data collected through a mental health HIS to inform service planning and delivery.

The HIS (currently being transformed into an electronic HIS) will include key mental health/substance use indicators. Patient record forms will be designed or modified in facilities where data will be collected. Data collection procedures will be standardized, and data on mental health and substance use will be collected, processed and analysed from all health facilities.

Strategic objectives:

4.1.1 Integrate a core set of mental health indicators within the national HIS at all levels: outpatient (dispensaries, PHC centres, and mental health clinics) and inpatient (psychiatric hospitals and psychiatric wards)

4.2 RESEARCH

Interventions will focus on:

- Ensuring a consensus around a national mental health research agenda and coordinating its research activities.

In addition to effective information systems, a high-quality mental health system also requires on-going research to improve understanding of mental health disorders and lead to effective interventions to reduce the impact of mental disorders. A national mental health research agenda will be developed to ensure that Lebanon commissions priority research programmes and is responsive to new research. In addition, on-going research will inform the development and enhancement of tailored mental health services and health promotion and prevention initiatives.

- 4.2.1 Create a national committee for mental health research to advice and support the MOPH on mental health research and knowledge dissemination in line with the national mental health framework
- 4.2.2 Conduct regularly assessments of the mental health system using the WHO-AIMS tool

4.3 EVALUATION OF POLICIES AND SERVICES

Interventions will focus on:

- Evaluating the progress of the current plan and informing future planning activities.

Monitoring and evaluation are key processes in determining whether the goals set in the policy and plan are being realized and allow decision makers to make short and longer term service and policy related decisions and changes. A clear Monitoring and Evaluation framework will be developed and implemented to record progress and reorient future plans.

Strategic objectives:

4.3.1 Implement a Monitoring and Evaluation framework for the strategy

Domain 5

Vulnerable groups

Goal:

Improve access to equitable evidence-based mental health services – preventive and curative– for all persons in the vulnerable groups living in Lebanon.

DOMAIN 5: VULNERABLE GROUPS

Goal: Improve access to equitable evidence-based mental health services –preventive and curative– for all persons in the vulnerable groups living in Lebanon.

Interventions will focus on:

- Ensuring that vulnerable groups living in Lebanon receive comprehensive and equitable mental health services.

Coordination will be promoted with various existing actors to develop structured programmes within different ministries aimed at improving the psychosocial wellbeing of the different vulnerable groups.

5.1 Persons with disabilities [Including mental and physical disabilities, and all age categories (children, adults and older adults)]	5.1.1	Integrate MHPSS into the programmes of all relevant actors who work with persons with disabilities
5.2 Children and adolescents	5.2.1	Develop evidence-based guidelines for MHPSS services targeting children and adolescents
5.3 Older adults	5.3.1	Train General Practitioners, family physicians and relevant health care workers on screening, assessing and managing older adults with mental health conditions, in line with the human resources capacity building plans in the strategy
5.4 Persons receiving palliative care	5.4.1	Develop an evidence-based capacity building plan for MHPSS services for providers working in palliative care
5.5 Persons in prisons	5.5.1	Develop a strategy for mental health and substance use in prisons and detention centres in coordination with relevant ministries and actors

5.6 Survivors of torture and their families	5.6.1	Train mental health providers working with survivors of torture on properly and timely assessing, documenting and managing the impact of torture on the mental health of the survivors and their families
5.7 Families of disappeared from armed conflicts and wars	5.7.1	Train mental health specialists working with families of the disappeared on relevant evidence-informed therapy techniques
	5.7.2	Create a national memorial for missing persons in coordination with all relevant actors
5.8 Persons living with HIV/AIDS	5.8.1	In collaboration with NAP, train HIV specialists and health workers on common mental and substance use disorders and effect of stigma on persons living with HIV/AIDS (detection, assessment and management)
5.9 SGBV survivors	5.9.1	Develop evidence-based capacity building plan for MHPSS services for providers working with SGBV survivors and their partners
	5.9.2	Integrate MHPSS into the programmes of all relevant actors who work with SGBV survivors and their partners
5.10 LGBT community	5.10.1	Adapt international standards for best practices for mental health care for LGBT community to the cultural context
	5.10.2	Develop capacities of mental health professionals on good practices for working with LGBT community in collaboration with relevant actors
5.11 Foreign domestic workers	5.11.1	Conduct a situation analysis to assess access of foreign domestic workers to MHPSS services
	5.11.2	Include the coverage of mental health services in the insurance schemes of foreign domestic workers
5.12 Palestinian refugees	5.12.1	Establish a leadership and governance mechanism for agencies working for mental health of Palestinian refugees supported by UNRWA in line with the MOPH structure
	5.12.2	Establish a sustainable referral system between actors in the field supported by UNRWA and the MOPH
5.13 Displaced populations	5.13.1	Develop an annual action plan for the MHPSS task force
	5.13.2	Monitor regularly the activities under the MHPSS task force action plan

Targets for successful achievement of strategic objectives



1.1.3	A National Substance Use Strategy is developed and launched
2.3.2	Quarterly assessments of the PHC centres' needed quantity of psychotropic medications are conducted through inspection visits and a systematic feedback mechanism from the centres
4.2.2	An assessment of the mental health system is conducted using the WHO-AIMS tool and repeated every five years
4.3.1	A Monitoring and Evaluation framework for the strategy is developed and implemented
5.13.1	An annual action plan for the MHPSS TF is developed
5.13.2	The MHPSS TF log-frame is updated every six months



- **1.1.2** A child and gender sensitive MHPSS Emergency Response Plan is developed
- **1.2.1** A report of MOPH budgetary allocations revision with proposed recommendations is submitted
- **1.4.1** A media and communication strategy is developed
- **1.4.2** An inter-sectorial collaboration mechanism between all relevant actors and ministries is established to mainstream mental health in other sectors
- **1.4.3** An MOPH action plan for facilitation of the creation of independent service users and families associations is developed and implemented in coordination and through engagement of other key ministries
- **1.4.4** A child and gender sensitive advocacy strategy for mental and substance use disorders related stigma and discrimination is developed
- **2.1.3** At least two general hospitals that have inpatient psychiatric units are contracted by the MOPH
- **2.1.5** A referral system linking all levels of care, including all organizations working for the vulnerable groups identified in the strategy, is established and activated
- **2.3.3** The MOPH list of psychotropic medications for prescriptions by specialists is revised
- **2.3.5** The restricted prescription medications list of the MOPH is revised
- **2.4.2** A code of ethics for mental health/substance use service providers is developed
- **3.1.1** An inter-ministerial coordination mechanism (between MOSA, MEHE, MOIM, MOJ and MOPH) is in place to develop and implement a national evidence-based MHPSS promotion and prevention action plan
- **3.1.1** A national evidence-based, child and gender sensitive MHPSS promotion and prevention action plan is in place
- **4.2.1** A national committee for mental health research is created to inform the MOPH about service development research needs
- **4.2.1** A national mental health research agenda is adopted
- **5.1.1** MHPSS are integrated into the programmes of all relevant actors who work with persons with disabilities
- **5.5.1** A strategy for mental health and substance use in prisons and detention centres is developed in coordination with relevant ministries and actors

	2017
1.1.1	A functional mental health and substance use unit or a department is established at the MOPH
1.3.1	All existing laws and regulations related to mental health and substance use are revised taking into account the cross-sectorial nature of MHPSS
1.3.3	The MOPH revised mental health law is passed and an implementation framework for the legislation is established and activated
2.1.4	A report of the WHO quality right toolkit for monitoring mental health facilities to ensure protection of human rights of persons with mental disorders is published every two years
2.2.1	A capacity building plan tailored for specialized staff is implemented
2.3.1	The PHC essential psychotropic medications list is updated and the update is repeated at least every three years
2.4.1	Accreditation standards for mental health/substance use institutions/ organizations are developed taking into consideration needs of children, children with disabilities and other vulnerable groups
3.1.2	Evidence-based mental health promotion and prevention are integrated into national protection programming in collaboration with the MOSA
3.1.4	Evidence-based mental health promotion and prevention are integrated into schools
5.4.1	An evidence-based capacity building plan for MHPSS services for providers working in palliative care is developed
5.11.1	A situation analysis to assess access of foreign domestic workers to MHPSS services is conducted



- **1.2.2** Defined priority mental health conditions are integrated in the basic health, social and child protection delivery packages of the government and social/private insurance reimbursement schemes
- **1.3.2** Needed mental health and substance use related law proposals are developed; these laws and their respective implementation decrees are child and gender sensitive
- **2.2.2** A capacity building proposal tailored for non-specialized health and social welfare/protection staff at all levels of care is developed
- **2.2.3** A capacity building proposal tailored for non-health care staff (police, legal professions, religious leaders, teachers, community leaders, etc.) is developed
- **2.3.4** Guidelines for the national prescription of psychotropic medications are developed
- **2.4.3** A monitoring and evaluation system to ensure quality of mental health/substance use services is adopted
- **3.1.3** Evidence-based mental health promotion and prevention are integrated into maternal and child health programmes
- **5.9.1** An evidence-based capacity-building plan for MHPSS services is developed for providers working with SGBV survivors and their partners
- **5.11.2** Coverage of mental health services is included in the insurance schemes of foreign domestic workers



- 2.1.7 An e-mental health guided self-help programme for Lebanon is adapted and piloted
- **3.1.5** An evidence-based framework for prevention and monitoring of suicide is developed and implemented
- **5.7.1** Mental health specialists working with families of the disappeared are trained on relevant evidence-informed therapy techniques
- **5.10.2** A capacity building plan on good practices for working with LGBT community for mental health professionals is developed in collaboration with relevant actors
- **5.12.1** Mental health is integrated into primary health care in all UNRWA clinics
- **5.12.1** UNRWA has an MHPSS strategy in line with the national strategy
- **5.12.1** UNRWA has a well-established MHPSS coordination mechanism in line with the national mental health strategy
- **5.12.2** A sustainable referral system between actors working with Palestinian Refugees is well established under the leadership of UNRWA and the support of MOPH



- **2.1.1** All PHC centres that are part of the MOPH network are trained and supervised on mhGAP-IG and other relevant trainings
- **2.1.1** All PHC centres that are part of the MOPH network have regular supply of psychotropic medicines
- **2.1.1** All MOSA SDCs that are part of the MOPH network are trained and supervised on mhGAP-IG and other relevant trainings
- **2.1.2** A multidisciplinary team that will be providing supervision for PHC centres and SDCs, acting as a referral point and providing care for persons with mental disorders is formed and assigned to three of the remote districts
- **2.1.6** Assessment of the eligibility of persons in long-stay psychiatric hospitals to be reintegrated in the community is conducted
- **2.1.6** Eligibility criteria for reintegration in the community of persons in long-stay psychiatric hospitals are established
- **2.2.4** The undergraduate mental health curricula for health and social welfare professionals and the postgraduate medical programmes are revised towards a multidisciplinary approach in compliance with the bio-psychosocial and recovery model in collaboration with academicinstitutions
- **4.1.1** A core set of mental health indicators is integrated within the national health information system at all levels: outpatient (dispensaries, PHC centres and mental health clinics) and inpatient (psychiatric hospitals and psychiatric wards)
- **5.2.1** Evidence-based guidelines for MHPSS services targeting children and adolescents are disseminated to the relevant actors
- **5.3.1** General Practitioners, family physicians and relevant health care workers are trained on screening, assessing and managing older adults with mental health conditions, in line with the human resources capacity building plans in the strategy
- **5.6.1** Mental health providers working with survivors of torture are trained on properly and timely assessing, documenting and managing the impact of torture on the mental health of survivors and their families
- 5.7.2 A national memorial for missing persons is created
- **5.8.1** In collaboration with NAP, HIV specialists and health workers aretrained on common mental health conditions/substance use and the effect of stigma on persons living with HIV/AIDS (detection, assessment and management)
- **5.9.2** MHPSS is integrated into the programmes of all relevant actors who work with SGBV survivors and their partners
- **5.10.1** Culturally-adapted standards for mental health care for the LGBT community are disseminated to the relevant actors

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. The World Health Report Mental Health: New Understanding. 2001. New Hope WHO. Geneva. (http://www.who.int/whr/2001/en/, accessed 3 June 2015).
- (2) World Health Organization. Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. 2012. (http://www.who.int/ healthinfo/global_burden_disease/gbd/en/, accessed 5 May 2015).
- (3) World Health Organization. Suicide data. 2012. (http://www.who.int/mental_health/prevention/ suicide/suicideprevent/en/, accessed 2 May 2-15).
- (4) World Health Organization. WHO report on mental health and development: targeting people with mental health conditions as a vulnerable group. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2010. (http://www.who.int/mental_health/policy/mhtargeting/development_targeting_mh_ summary.pdf, accessed 15 April 2015).
- (5) The WHO World Mental Health Survey Consortium. Prevalence, severity, and unmet need for treatment of mental disorders in the world health organization world mental health surveys. JAMA. 2004;291(21):2581-2590. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.21.2581
- (6) World Health Organization. Strategy for mental health and substance abuse in the Eastern Mediterranean Region 2012–2016. 2011. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. (http://applications.emro.who.int/docs/RC_technical_papers_2011_5_14223.pdf, accessed 2 May 2015).
- (7) Patel V, Lund C, Heatherill S, Plagerson S, Corrigal J, et al. Social determinants of mental disorders. In: Blas E, Kurup AS, editors. Equity, social determinants and public health programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2009;115–134.
- (8) Bass JK, Bornemann TH, Burkey M, Chehil S, Chen L, Copeland JRM, et al. A United Nations General Assembly Special Session for Mental, Neurological, and Substance Use Disorders: The Time Has Come. PLoS Med. 2012;9(1): e1001159. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001159.
- (9) Karam EG, Mneimneh ZN, Dimassi H, Fayyad JA, Karam AN, Nasser SC, Chatterji S, Kessler RC. Lifetime Prevalence of Mental Disorders in Lebanon: First Onset, Treatment, and Exposure to War. PLoS Med. 2008;5(4). doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050061.
- (10) Karam EG, Mneimneh Z, Karam A, et al. Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders in Lebanon: a national epidemiological survey. Lancet. 2006;367:1000-6.
- (11) Benedek DM, Ursano RJ. Applicability in highly industrialized, resource rich Communities: the IASC Guidelines on Mental Health and Psychosocial Support in Emergency Settings. Intervention. 2008;6(3/4):243–247.
- (12) Farhood L, Dimassi H, Strauss NL. Understanding Post-Conflict Mental Health: Assessment of PTSD, Depression, General Health and Life Events in Civilian Population One Year after the 2006 War in South Lebanon. J Trauma Stress Disor Treat. 2013;2:2.
- (13) United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). Substance use and misuse in Lebanon: The Lebanon rapid situation assessment and responses study. 2003. (http://www.unodc.org/ pdf/egypt/rsa_report_lebanon_2003.pdf, accessed 15 July 2015).
- (14) Karam EG, Ghandour LA, Maalouf WE, Yamout K, Salamoun MM. A rapid situation assessment (RSA) study of alcohol and drug use in Lebanon. Lebanese Medical Journal. 2010;58(2):77.
- (15) Central Administration of Statistics. The national survey of households living conditions. 2007. (http://www.cas.gov.lb/index.php/all-publications-en#households-living-conditionssurvey-2007, accessed 2 May 2015).

- (16) Central Administration of Statistics. The national survey of households living conditions. 2004 http://www.cas.gov.lb/index.php/all-publications-en#households-living-conditionssurvey-2004, accessed 2 May 2015).
- (17) UNRWA. Lebanon. 2014. (http://www.unrwa.org/where-we-work/lebanon, accessed 5 June 2015).
- (18) UNHCR. Registered Syrian Refugees. 2015. (http://data.unhcr.org/syrianrefugees/country. php?id=122, accessed 6 July 2015).
- (19) ILO. Lebanon. 2015. (http://www.ilo.org/beirut/countries/lebanon/lang--en/index.htm, accessed 6 July 2015).
- (20) National AIDS Program. 2015. Beirut: Lebanon.
- (21) Ministry of Justice. Prisons demography. 2014. (http://pa.justice.gov.lb/index. php?view=PDFViewer.default_cat&cid=2&m=3, accessed 6 July 2015).
- (22) International Committee of the Red Cross. The families of people missing in connection with the armed conflicts that have occurred in Lebanon since 1975: An assessment of their needs. 2013. (https://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/report/06-20-lebanon-missing.htm, accessed June 13, 2015).
- (23) Epp A. The disability movement in Lebanon: a study of disability in civil society. The Canadian Undergraduate Journal of Development Studies. 2011;3(1):60-67.
- (24) Global School Health Survey. Lebanon, 2005 global school-based student health surveycountry report. World Health Organization. 2005. (https://www.aub.edu.lb/fhs/heru/ Documents/heru/resources/pdf/Global_school.pdf, accessed March 12, 2015).
- (25) Global School Health Survey. Lebanon, 2011 global school-based student health surveyfact sheet. World Health Organization. 2011. (http://www.who.int/chp/gshs/lebanon/en/, accessed March 12, 2015).
- (26) Maalouf F, Ghandour L, Halabi F, Zeinoun P, Shehab AAS, Tavitian L. Psychiatric disorders among adolescents from Lebanon: Prevalence, correlates and an urgent need for action. Under review.
- (27) Sibai AM, Sen K, Baydoun M, Saxena P. Population ageing in Lebanon: current status, future prospects and implications for policy. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2004;82(3):219-225.
- (28) Karam G. Geriatric depression: A brief review. J Med Liban 2012;60(4):200-206.
- (29) Chaaya M, Sibai AM, Fayad R, El-Roueiheb Z. Religiosity and depression in older people: Evidence from underprivileged refugee and non-refugee communities in Lebanon. Aging & Mental Health. 2007;11(1):37-44. doi: 10.1080/13607860600735812.
- (30) Phung KTT, Chaaya M, Atweh S, El Asmar K, Karam G, Khoury RM, Ghandour L, Ghusn H, Prince M, Waldemar G. Prevalence of dementia in Lebanon: Preliminary data from Beirut, Shouf, and Aley. Alzheimer's and Dementia. 2014;10(4):595. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.05.997.
- (31) Chahine LM, Bijlsma A, Hospers APN, Chemali Z. Dementia and depression among nursing home residents in Lebanon: a pilot study. Int. J. Geriatr Psychiatry. 2007;22:283–285.
- (32) Doumit MAA, Abu-Saad Huijer H, Kelley JH. The lived experience of Lebanese oncology patients receiving palliative care. European Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2007;11(4):309-319. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2007.02.008.
- (33) Association Justice Et Miséricorde (AJEM). A case study on the rehabilitation. 2008. (http:// www.moph.gov.lb/Prevention/AIDS/Documents/Ajem.pdf, accessed May 12, 2015).
- (34) The Institute of Health Management and Social Protection (IGSPS). National health statistics report in Lebanon. IGSPS. 2012. (http://www.igsps.usj.edu.lb/docs/recherche/recueil12en. pdf, accessed 8 September 2014).

- (35) International Rehabilitation Council for Torture Victims (IRCT). Effects of torture. IRCT. 2015. (http://www.irct.org/what-is-torture/effects-of-torture.aspx, accessed 3 May 2015).
- (36) Daunay M. Arbitrary detention and torture: the bitter reality of Lebanon. Lebanese Center for Human Rights. 2011. (http://www.humanrights-lb.com/upload/Torture%20and%20 Arbitrary%20Detention%20ENGL.pdf, accessed 2 June 2015).
- (37) World Health Organization. HIV/AIDS and mental health- Report by the Secretariat. Executive Board EB124/6, 124th Session. 2008.(http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/EB124/ B124_6-en.pdf, accessed 2 June 2015).
- (38) World Health Organization. Sexual and other forms of gender-based violence in crises. 2015. (http://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/pht/SGBV/en/, accessed 10 June 2015).
- (39) Gevers A, Dartnall E. The role of mental health in primary prevention of sexual and genderbased violence. Glob Health Action. 2014;7:24741. doi: 10.3402/gha.v7.24741
- (40) UNFPA. Review of gender-based violence research in Lebanon. 2012. (http://www.unfpa.org. lb/Documents/4-Review-of-GBV-Research-in-Lebanon.aspx, accessed 2 May 2015).
- (41) Cochran SD, Drescher J, Kismödi K, Giami K, García-Moreno C, Atalla E, Marais A, Vieirah EM, Reedi GM. Proposed declassification of disease categories related to sexual orientation in the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-11). Bull World Health Organ 2014;92:672–679. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.2471/BLT.14.135541
- (42) Lebanese Medical Association for Sexual Health (LebMASH). Lebanese Psychiatric Society: Homosexuality is not a disease. 2013. (https://lebmash.wordpress.com/2013/07/12/lps-en/, accessed 5 May 2015).
- (43) Wagner GJ, Aunon FM, Kaplan RL, Karam R, Khouri D, Tohme J, Mokhbat J. Sexual stigma, psychological well-being and social engagement among men who have sex with men in Beirut, Lebanon. Culture, Health & Sexuality. 2013;15(5):570-582.
- (44) Zahreddine N, Hady RT, Chammai R, Kazour F, Hachem D, Richa S. Psychiatric morbidity, phenomenology and management in hospitalized female foreign domestic workers in Lebanon. Community Mental Health Journal. 2014;50(5):619-628. doi: 10.1007/s10597-013-9682-7.
- (45) Human Rights Watch. Lebanon: Migrant Domestic Workers Dying Every Week. 2008. (https:// www.hrw.org/news/2008/08/26/lebanon-migrant-domestic-workers-dying-every-week, accessed May 4, 2015).
- (46) Vickers D, Masri S. Mental Health Needs Assessment in Palestinian Refugee Camps. Response International. 2005. (http://www.responseinternational.org.uk/archives_articals/ MHNA_Report.pdf, accessed 5 May 2015).
- (47) Doctors Without Borders/Médecins Sans Frontières. Lebanon: Mental health care in Burj el- Barajneh. 2011. (http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/news-stories/field-news/ lebanon-mental-health-care-burj-el-barajneh, accessed 2 May 2015).
- (48) Caritas. Syrian refugees suffering depression and stress. 2013. (http://www.caritas. org/2013/06/syrian-refugees-suffering-depression-and-stress/, accessed 3 June 2015).
- (49) Syndicate of hospitals. 2015. Beirut: Lebanon.
- (50) Hamandi M. Lebanese hospital database: syndicate of hospitals new achievement part 2; health and human newspaper number 25. 2013. (http://www.syndicateofhospitals.org.lb/ Content/uploads/SyndicateMagazinePdfs/9124_28-29%20Ar.pdf, accessed 2 May 2015).
- (51) Ministry of Public Health. Hospitals and health care centers. 2014. (http://www.moph.gov.lb/ MedicalCare/Pages/HealthCareCenter.aspx, accessed 3 May 2015).
- (52) World Bank. Physicians (per 1,000 people), Lebanon. World Bank open data. 2011. (http:// data.worldbank.org/, accessed 2 June 2015)

- (53) Syndicate of nurses. 2015. Beirut: Lebanon.
- (54) World Bank. Lebanon Economic Monitor. 2014. (http://www.worldbank.org/content/dam/ Worldbank/Feature%20Story/mena/Lebanon/lebanon-IEM-fall-2014.pdf, accessed 3 June 2015).
- (55) World Health Organization. Country Cooperation Strategy at a glance- Lebanon. 2014. (http:// www.who.int/countryfocus/cooperation_strategy/ccsbrief_lbn_en.pdf, accessed 6 June 2015).
- (56) World Health Organization. WHO-AIMS Report on Mental Health System in Lebanon. 2015. Unpublished. 2015.
- (57) Republic of Lebanon. Decree-law 72 on care, treatment and protection of mental health; official gazette number 38. 1983. Beirut: Lebanon.
- (58) Republic of Lebanon. Law 673 related to narcotic drugs, psychotropic medications and their precursors; official gazette number 14. 1998. Beirut: Lebanon.
- (59) Republic of Lebanon. Law 574 on patients' rights and informed consent; official gazette number 9. 2004. Beirut: Lebanon.
- (60) World Bank. Health expenditure, total (% of GDP), Lebanon. World Bank open data. 2013. (http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.XPD.TOTL.ZS/countries, accessed 2 June 2015).
- (61) World Health Organization. Improving Health Systems and Services for Mental Health. 2009. (http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2009/9789241598774_eng.pdf, accessed 3 March 2015).
- (62) Building Back Better- Sustainable Mental Health Care after Emergencies. 2013. WHO: Geneva.

